0A 12-6.83

SUPREME COURT
STATE OF FLORIDA
CASE NO. 63,368

FELICIA M. TRONCONI,)
)
 Petitioner,)
)
 vs.)
)
 FRANCIS JOSEPH TRONCONI,)
)
 Respondent.)
)
 _____)

FILED

SEP 6 1983
SID J. WHITE
CLERK SUPREME COURT
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

MAIN BRIEF OF PETITIONER

IRA MARCUS, P.A.
Attorney for Petitioner
625 Northeast Third Avenue
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33304
(305) 525-1511

STATEMENT OF CASE

Petitioner (Wife) was the Respondent/Counter-Petitioner in the Trial Court. Respondent (Husband) was the Petitioner/Counter-Respondent in the Trial Court. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as Wife (Petitioner) and Husband (Respondent) respectively. Exhibit references refer to the conformed record. The record of exhibits shall be referred to as "R", while the transcript proceedings will be referred to as "T".

The Husband was the original Petitioner in an action for Dissolution of Marriage and Partition in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida, Case Number: 79-21937, filed on November 29, 1979. (R-188-192). On January 7, 1980, the Wife filed her Answer, Affirmative Defenses and Counterpetition for Dissolution of Marriage and Partition. (R-195-202). On or about June 3, 1980, the Husband filed his Reply to Wife's Answer and Affirmative Defenses to Wife's Counterpetition. (R-204-207). On June 10, 1980, Wife filed a Motion for Temporary Relief seeking to have the Husband contribute to the monthly mortgage payments on the marital residence. (R-209-210). The Court issued its Order of Referral to the General Master. (R-208). On June 6, 1980, the Wife also filed a sworn Motion for Temporary Restraining Order, requesting Husband to be restrained from interfering with Wife's access to the jointly-owned Lake Placid property. (R-211-212). On June 10, 1980, Wife filed her Reply to Husband's Answer and Affirmative Defenses to Wife's Counterpetition (R-213). On June 9, 1980, the General Master issued his Order pursuant to Wife's

Motions for Temporary Relief and Restraining Order. (R-211-212). On July 7, 1980, the General Master filed his Report. (R-220-221) and on July 10, 1980, the Court issued its Order upon the report of the General Master. (R-222). Thereafter, Husband's original counsel filed his Motion to Withdraw. (R-224-225). The Motion to Withdraw was allowed pursuant to the Order of the General Master. (R-227). The Husband then filed his Motion for Leave to Amend his Petition to include a claim for alimony. (R-228-231). On September 9, 1980, the Wife filed her Answer and Affirmative Defenses to Husband's Amended Petition. (R-238-239). The Husband filed his Reply to Wife's Affirmative Defenses. (R-243). The Husband substituted counsel, pursuant to Order dated September 16, 1980. (R-242). The Wife filed a Motion to Amend her Counterpetition adding a count for contribution. (R-244-247). The amendment to Wife's Counterpetition was allowed on January 12, 1981. (R-253). On January 14, 1981, Husband filed his Answer to Wife's Amended Counterpetition. (R-254). A Final Hearing was held on February 4, 1981. The Trial Court entered its Final Judgment on March 3, 1981. (R-258-263). Notice of Appeal was filed on March 17, 1981. (R-264). On March 18, 1981, Wife filed her Motion to Stay Pending Appeal. (R-265). On April 20, 1981, the Court entered its Order denying Wife's Motion to Stay Pending Appeal. (R-269). On May 12, 1981, Wife filed her Motion for Temporary Restraining Order. (SR 1-2). On May 26, 1981, the trial court entered its Order Denying Wife's Motion for Temporary Restraining Order. (SR-3). On June 10, 1981, Wife filed her Motion to Review the Trial Court's denial of

her Motion for Temporary Restraining Order Pending Appeal. (SR-4). On July 2, 1981, Appellant's Motion for Review Order entered on motion in lower tribunal was denied, and Appellant's July 10, 1981 Motion for Temporary Restraining Order was denied; (App. 13) this appeal was initially argued on January 27, 1982. Thereafter, the District Court of Appeal, pursuant to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure Rule 9.331(c) on its own motion, ordered a rehearing en banc of this case, and it was argued before the full court on June 24, 1982.

The full court rendered its decision on December 1, 1982 and affirmed the Trial Court's Final Judgment. (App. 1-12).

On February 9, 1983, the Appellate Court denied Appellant's Motion for Rehearing. (App. 14). A Mandate was then filed on February 25, 1983 by the District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida, Fourth District. (App. 15).

Following the Appellate Court's mandate, Appellant filed, on February 28, 1983, its motion to withdraw mandate or, in the alternative, stay the application of mandate pending further review. (App. 16-17). The Appellate Court then granted Appellant's Motion to Withdraw the mandate issued. (App. 18).

On February 28, 1983, Appellant filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction. (App. 19). An Order accepting jurisdiction and setting oral argument was issued on July 19, 1983. (App. 20).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties were married in 1955 and there were no children born of the marriage. (R-188-192; 195-202). Both the Husband and the Wife were sixty years old at the time of the Final Hearing. (T-42, 149). The Husband has a B.A. in Education, a Masters in Business Administration from Columbia University and is qualified to teach on the high school and college level. (T-80). He has business administrative skills, experience in the construction trade (T-79-80), design engineering experience (T-48) and has been employed in the electronics field. (T-80). Throughout most of the marriage, the Husband has been employed as a high school teacher, initially in Avon, Connecticut and later at Cardinal Gibbons High School in Fort Lauderdale, Florida. (T-72-73, 90). At the time of the Final Hearing, the Husband was collecting unemployment, although capable of being gainfully employed. (T-127, 131, 134). The Husband had an earning capacity as a teacher of approximately \$16,000.00. (T-130). The Husband's assets included: a \$1,500.00 IRA account (T-122); a free and clear 1978 Cadillac Seville, with a minimum fair market value of \$5,000.00. (T-129); two lots in Stella Maris, Bahamas, free and clear, worth approximately \$4,000.00-\$7,000.00, plus his interest in the jointly-owned real and personal property. (R-337-340). The Husband's net worth was approximately in excess of \$15,000.00. (T-337-340).

The Wife initially worked as a secretary when the parties lived in Connecticut. (T-87). Thereafter, she obtained her degree in Education and worked as a teacher in Connecticut and

Florida. (T-51-52, 181). The Wife worked two jobs throughout most of the marriage (T-151-152), as well as performed the normal wifely chores of cooking and cleaning. (T-87-88, 90). The Wife came into the marriage with approximately \$5,000.00 of her own funds. (T-150, R-404). Subsequently, the Wife inherited \$2,500.00 upon the death of her mother (T-94, R-405), which was used to purchase an automobile titled in Husband's name alone. (T-153-154). Approximately \$3,500.00 of the Wife's initial \$5,000.00 money went toward the purchase of a vacant lot on Southeast 14 Street, Pompano Beach, Florida. (T-82-87). The property was purchased in 1956 for approximately \$3,800.00 (T-47, 86) and was jointly owned. (T-86, 151).

At the time of the Final Hearing, Wife was working two teaching jobs and was earning approximately \$15,000.00 per year gross salary. (T-183, R-119-620).

The parties first lived together as Husband and Wife in Fort Lauderdale when they moved from Connecticut in 1955. (T-47). They built a house on the vacant lot in Pompano and resided there for approximately three years. (T-48). Thereafter, the parties returned back to live in Lake Congamond, Connecticut for a short period. (T-49). They eventually sold the Pompano property and jointly acquired a house in Avon, Connecticut. (T-50, 100). During this time, both parties were working and jointly contributing to joint bank accounts and living expenses. (T-61).

During the course of the marriage, assets were acquired both in joint names and solely in the name of the Husband. While the Husband was working as a teacher for the State of Connecticut, he

accumulated a pension fund in the amount of \$10,000.00. (T-91, 94). The pension fund was accumulated by deductions from Husband's salary. (T-175, R-168). In 1979, shortly before the parties separated, the Husband withdrew the \$10,000.00 pension fund, invested it in gold coins and lost the entire amount. (T-66-68, R-333).

Additionally, during the course of the marriage, the Husband accumulated \$6,000.00 in cash value in a Prudential Life Insurance Policy. (T-68, 96, 118). The premiums for the said policy were paid from the joint funds of the parties. (T-97-99, 161; R-527-541). In April, 1980, shortly before the \$12,000.00 balloon payment was due on the second mortgage on the marital residence, the Husband cancelled the life insurance policy, received \$6,000.00 and paid off the loan on his 1978 Cadillac titled in his name. (T-68, 118-121, 143-144, 161; R-352, 527-541). The Husband purchased the said Cadillac with joint funds. (T-124, 161-163; R-542-548).

The parties lived together in Avon, Connecticut until the end of 1972 or beginning of 1973. (T-53). During this time, the parties jointly acquired two lots in Stella Maris, Bahamas, for approximately /\$7,000.00. (R-298-304). In 1973, the parties separated and the Husband moved to Florida. (T-109, 156). The parties entered into a Property Settlement Agreement, wherein the Avon, Connecticut property was remortgaged (R-287-291) and the Husband received \$18,000.00 in cash, plus the two lots in Stella Maris, Bahamas, work approximately \$7,000.00, a station wagon and his tools. (T-53-56, 109-110). The Wife received the proceeds

of the sale of the Avon, Connecticut house, in the approximate amount of \$25,000.00, plus its contents. (T-54, 109-110, 157-158; R-409-413). A divorce proceeding was commenced in Broward County and the exchange of property was the subject of a court order, although no final judgment was ever entered. (R-306-307).

The parties reconciled and the Wife moved to Fort Lauderdale in March, 1974. (T-56, 158). When the Wife moved, she transported to Florida, at her own expense, the contents of the Avon, Connecticut house. (T-156-157; R-409-413).

In 1975, the parties acquired in joint names, the marital residence located at 4640 Northeast Third Avenue, Fort Lauderdale, Florida. (T-59). The down payment and first and second mortgage payments up to August of 1979 came from joint funds. (T-61; R-406-408). The marital residence had a purchase money second mortgage in the approximate amount of \$12,000.00 that would balloon in June, 1980. (R-609). The parties resided together until August 21, 1979, when Husband voluntarily abandoned the marital residence. (T-113-114. After Husband left, he did not contribute any monies toward the mortgage payments on the marital residence or Great Abaco Island property. (T-116). After separation, Wife made all first and second mortgage payments on marital residence and Great Abaco Island property. (T-147, 159-161; R-414, 456; 471-526; 550-608). The second mortgage went into default, foreclosure proceedings were commenced. The Wife paid the sum of \$13,563.79 to satisfy and discharge the second mortgage. (T-167, 171, 173).

Also, the parties, after reconciliation, purchased the Lake Placid Property, as a business proposition. The purchase price was \$80,000.00. Wife contributed one-half (1/2) of the \$50,000.00 down payment on the Lake Placid property from her own funds. (T-107-108), 163). The parties maintained joint bank accounts representing the contributions of parties' salaries. (T-66; R-406-408). The purchase price for the Great Abaco Island property came from joint funds. (T-158). The joint contributions of the parties went to pay off the remaining debt on the Lake Placid property. (T-109-159).

After the "division of property" by the Trial Court, Wife received approximately \$53,000.00 worth of assets, to wit: the marital residence and car, in addition to liabilities incurred to pay off the second mortgage. The Husband realized from the marriage assets valued at a minimum of \$89,000.00 (if Lake Placid valued at \$62,000.00) or \$109,500.00 (if Lake Placid valued at \$80,000.00, the purchase price).

ARGUMENT I

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL COMMITTED ERROR IN AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S "EQUITABLE DIVISION OF THE PARTIES' ASSETS" AND IN ESTABLISHING THE "DOCTRINE OF EQUITABLE DISTRIBUTION" AS A NEW INDEPENDENT VEHICLE TO DIVIDE THE PARTIES' ASSETS, CONTRARY TO THE MANDATE OF CANAKARIS V. CANAKARIS.

(a) The District Court of Appeal erred in affirming the Petitioner/Wife's conveyance of her interests in the Lake Placid and Great Abaco Island Properties as an equitable division of properties. The majority opinion of the District Court of Appeal affirmed all aspects of the Trial Court's award. The Final Judgment of the Trial Court specifically found that "...neither party has established a special equity in any of the real property" (R-260, ¶10); the Trial Court further found that "...partition of the property would not be in the best interests of either party and further that the following represents an equitable division of the party's assets..." (R-260; ¶11). The Trial Court required the Wife to convey to Husband her one-half interest (1/2) in the Lake Placid and Great Abaco Island properties. The Court purported to award to the Wife the Husband's "one-half" interest in the marital residence, together with furnishings. In actuality, the Wife did not receive the Husband's 50% interest in the marital residence, because her clear vested special equity represented a portion of Husband's one-half interest and therefore part of what she received was merely a return of her own property. (R-260; ¶4). Landay v. Landay, 429 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1983). Further, there was no finding that the Husband was entitled to lump-sum alimony based upon justification.

(R-260;¶14). The Trial Court merely attempted an "equitable division of the party's assets" without resort to the various remedies available, to wit: various forms of alimony, special equity or partition. Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1980).

The Appellate Court held, after hearing en banc, that

"in affirming the Trial Judge, we adopt the doctrine of equitable distribution ... When an equitable distribution is invoked it may well take the place of lump-sum alimony or any special equity."

(App. 1).

This holding is clearly contrary to this Court's specific ruling in Canakaris, that "equitable distribution" is an end result to be achieved by use of specific vehicles, rather than an independent vehicle or remedy. Canakaris at 1201. This Appellate Court's decision also directly conflicts with the decisions of the Second District Court of Appeals in the cases of Powers v. Powers, 409 So.2d 177 (Fla. 2d DCA, 1982), Leonard v. Leonard, 414 So.2d 554 (Fla. 2nd DCA, 1982) and Hu v. Hu, 432 So.2d 1389 (Fla. 2nd DCA, 1983), the Third District Court of Appeal in the case of Mirabal v. Mirabal, 416 So.2d 868 (Fla. 3rd DCA, 1982) and the First District Court of Appeal decision in Connor v. Connor, 411 So.2d 899 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1982).

In affirming the Trial Judge's award, based upon an "equitable division of the parties' assets", the District Court misinterpreted, misconstrued and misapplied the ruling in Canakaris, and thus committed error. This Court in Canakaris specifically and unambiguously set forth the law in the State of Florida granting to the Trial Judge the ability to transfer

marital assets between the spouses regardless of how title is held, by an expanded version of lump-sum alimony.

"A judge may award lump-sum alimony to ensure equitable distribution of property acquired during the marriage provided the evidence reflects (1) a justification for lump-sum alimony and (2) financial ability of the other spouse to make such payment without substantially endangering his or economic status..."

Canakaris, at 1201. The Canakaris decision did not create the doctrine of equitable distribution either "de facto or de jure". In one "fell swoop", the Appellate Court herein not only overruled the law set forth in Canakaris, but all Florida law regarding special equity, as it evolved from Carlson v. Carlson, 83 So. 87 (Fla. 1919) through Ball v. Ball, 335 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1976) to the present. The Appellate Court's decision erroneously disregarded the fact that a spouse's vested special equity interest in assets must first be removed from the "kitty" before that "kitty" can be equitably divided between the parties. "...upon dissolution, the owner of the separate property is entitled to a 'Special Equity' representing a return of the 'separate property'. McClung v. McClung, 427 So.2d 350, 352 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). This attempt by the District Court to overrule Canakaris will "...create chaos and uncertainty in the judicial forum, particularly at the trial level." Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So.2d 431, 434 (Fla. 1973).

The District Court of Appeal cites Robinson v. Robinson, 403 So.2d 1306 (Fla. 1980) and Cloughton v. Cloughton, 393 So.2d 1061, (Fla. 1980) to support its conclusion that equitable distribution is an independent remedy. Canakaris, Cloughton and

Robinson clearly state that a Trial Judge may "ensure equitable distribution of property acquired during a marriage" by awarding lump-sum alimony. Nowhere in any of these opinions does this Honorable Court state that there is discretion to merely equitably distribute property, independent of the concepts of lump-sum alimony (based upon justification) or special equity. In this regard, it is respectfully suggested, that the District Court of Appeal has substantially deviated from the letter and spirit of Canakaris.

In Canakaris, this Court unequivocally pronounced that Florida is committed to the concept of an equitable division of marital assets to achieve equitable distribution. However, it is carefully noted that "equitable distribution is the end rather than the means" Hu v. Hu, 432 So.2d. 1389 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). "Equitable distribution" is a term of art given to the totality of the process of achieving this equitable division. When the marital assets are divided by use of certain prescribed remedies an equitable distribution will result.

"Dissolution proceedings present to a trial judge the difficult problem of providing necessary support, and attempting to distribute the assets of the parties equitably. The judge possesses broad discretionary authority to do equity between the parties and has available various remedies to accomplish this purpose, including lump-sum alimony [based on justification], permanent periodic alimony, rehabilitative alimony, child support, a vested special equity in property, and an award of exclusive possession of property... However, it is extremely important that [these remedies] be reviewed by appellate courts as a whole, rather than independently.

Canakaris v. Canakaris, 387 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1980), at 1202.

Prior to Canakaris, there was no specific statutory or judicial authority to equitably divide marital assets, particularly, assets not subject to a special equity and titled in the name of one spouse. The true significance of Canakaris is not that it uses the term "equitable distribution", but that it granted to the Trial Judge the ability to transfer marital assets between the spouses, regardless of title, by the vehicle of lump-sum alimony.

The concept of lump-sum alimony now can be liberally employed to accomplish the mandate of Canakaris. The Judge has broad discretion to find "justification" for an award of lump-sum alimony to distribute marital assets, after any special equity is removed, subject to a rule of "reasonableness". Canakaris, 387 So.2d 1197, at 1203. See Rosen v. Rosen, 386 So.2d 1268 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980); Vanderslice v. Vanderslice, 396 So.2d 1185 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981); Costich v. Costich, 383 So.2d 1141 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980).

It is respectfully submitted, that the District Court of Appeal further committed error when it held, "nor do we suggest that equitable distribution must be carried out in every case". Again, Canakaris clearly states that "equitable distribution" is the end result to be accomplished by resort to various remedies. These remedies are a part of one overall scheme. The import of the Canakaris opinion and its companion, Duncan v. Duncan, 379 So.2d 949 (Fla. 1980) was "...to the extent possible,...to bring some stability to this area of the law", Canakaris, at 1200.

It is absolutely essential that each "remedy" be considered independently because there are certain specific criteria to be met as to each one. There is a clear interrelationship between these remedies. Goss v. Goss, 400 So.2d 518 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) and Weider v. Wieder, 402 So.2d 66 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981).

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