#### **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF**

PHILIP MICHAEL CULLEN III CHARTERED SUITE 206, 700 S.E. 3RD AVENUE FORT LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33316 (305) 462-0273

###

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

Petitioner's brief makes much of dicta in the District

(15)

Court's opinion with respect to the relationship between equitable distribution and the traditional remedies, specifically the special equity and lump sum alimony. With respect to the former, the District Court not only "stressed" its opinion applied only to marital assets, but "specifically did not address" the question of assets acquired by inheritance or gift. <u>Tronconi</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 549, immediately, prior to the comments quoted by Petitioner with respect to lump sum alimony. The op inion says nothing about how many types of lump sum alimony there may be. The issue was simply not before the Court. Beyond that, the dicta in the District Court's opinion are not impermissible law making, but merely a reflection of this Court's own dicta in Canakaris.

While it is not necessary to examine that matter in this case, it is enlightening to follow the rationale of <u>Canakaris</u> to its logical conclusion. In that decision, this Court stressed on several occasions that the traditional remedies were part of one interrelated scheme to be reviewed as a whole. In addition to that holding and its approval of lump sum alimony to effectuate equitable distribution where justification and ability are present, the Court, citing <u>Patterson v. Patterson</u>, 315 So.2d 104 (4th DCA 1975), indicated that permanent periodic alimony could be used for the same purpose. <u>Canakaris</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 1202. In such circumstances, the standard for both types of alimony would be justification as opposed to need. See Lewis v.

(16)

<u>Lewis</u>, 383 So.2d 1143,1144 (4th DCA 1980). While not specifically addressed, theoretically, the same consideration should apply with regard to rehabilitative alimony and child support, since the same need and ability standard were previously utilized in all cases. The Courts of at least one other state "equitably distribute" the benefits and burdens of child support. <u>Conway</u> <u>v</u>. <u>Dana</u>, 546 Pa. 536 (1974).

At least prior to this Court's decision in Landay v. Landay, 429 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1983) published subsequent to the decision in this case, there were suggestions that even the special equity doctrine may have undergone a similar metamorphosis as a result of <u>Canakaris</u> and <u>Duncan</u>. <u>Tommaney v.</u> <u>Tommaney</u> 405 So.2d 454 (2nd DCA 1981). <u>See</u> Frumkes, <u>Florida's</u> <u>Flight to Fairness (Equitable Distribution in Florida: from</u> <u>January 31, Through February 14, 1982)</u> Part I, 56 <u>Fla.Bar J.</u> 351, 352 (April 1982).

Because of the emphasis that the <u>Canakaris</u> Court placed on the end result and blurring of the distinctions between the traditional forms of financial relief available in divorce actions, it would appear that these forms may ulitimately be reduced to little more than descriptions of various facets of financial relief awarded on the basis of justification and ability rather than separate forms of relief having distinct legal requirements and purposes.

In summary, the language and logic of Canakaris and

(17)

<u>Duncan</u> compels the conclusion that equitable distribution is a separate vehicle for relief. The holding in <u>Tronconi</u> is a correct application of <u>Canakaris</u> and <u>Duncan</u>. Equitable distribution is a defined remedy whose consistent application requires little more than adequate evidentiary support. To define lump sum alimony in two different ways creates the very problem <u>Canakaris</u> was intended to eliminate. There is scant reason to go backward. See <u>Williamson v. Williamson</u>, 376 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 1979).

#### POINT III

#### THE COURTS HAVE JURISDICTION TO ADAPT THE LAW TO CHANGING SOCIAL CONDITIONS AND NEEDS

Petitioner's major objection to the majority's interpretation of <u>Canakaris</u> and simultaneously the major argument advanced in support of her position that equitable distribution, which she concedes is the law, must be accomplished via lump sum alimony is that the Courts lack jurisdiction to effect title to real property absent specific legislative authorization. On that basis, she argues that, once the parties' respective interests are determined, the Court has no alternative but to order "partition and sale".Since this argument rests on the application of the partition statute, it must logically apply to personal property as well. F.S.A. 64.091.

Citing a footnote in <u>Gorman v.</u> <u>Gorman</u>, 400 So.2d 75 (5th DCA 1981) for the proposition she contends

> A lump sum alimony award cannot...be used merely to divide jointly owned property because that must be done with statutory partition proceedings. <u>Id.</u>, at 77; n. 4 (Petitioner's brief, 14, <u>15.</u>)

The import of this argument is clouded by the fact that Petitioner also argues:

This Court in <u>Canakaris</u> specifically and unambiguously set forth the law in the State of Florida granting to the trial judge the ability to transfer marital assets between the spouses regardless of how title is

(19)

held by an expanded version of lump sum alimony (Petitioner's brief, p. 10,11 also, 13).

Perhaps this matter would have been clarified had Petitioner's brief commented on what would appear to be <u>Duncan's</u> explicit rejection of her argument that the trial Courts had no alternative but to order partition and sale. Further confusing matters with respect to Petitioner's contention that "only the legislature has jurisdiction over title to property" (Petitioner's brief, 20) is her argument resting on <u>Neiman v.</u> Neiman, 294 So.2d 415 (4th DCA 1971) that:

> The Court's authority to effect a change in the title to property of the parties in the dissolution of marriage is restricted to an award of lump sum alimony, the determination of a <u>special equity</u>, a partition of the property, or a division based upon an agreement of the parties. Id., at 416 (Petitioner's brief, 20) [emphasis added].

What this argument overlooks is that the special equity on which Petitioner herself most strongly relies is a Court created vehicle. <u>See Canakaris</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 1200. In the domestic relations area, it is the classic example of this Court's having done exactly what Petitioner contends it lacks jurisdiction to do.

In the same vein, relying on this Court's decision in <u>Condry v. Condry</u>, 92 So.2d 423 (Fla. 1957) and citing <u>Sudholdt v.</u> <u>Sudholdt</u>, 389 So.2d 301 (5th DCA 1980) Petitioner concedes the existence of

> The <u>power</u> of the trial Court to deny partition ...in extreme cases where otherwise manifest injustice, fraud or oppression would result if the remedy

> > (20)

were granted, Id., at 302; (Petitioner's brief, 35) [emphasis added].

In the case <u>sub judice</u>, this standard is met. Manifest injustice would unquestionably result to both parties from the sale of the marital assets at the courthouse door upon which Petitioner insists.

For all practical purposes, the parties' only asssets were the parcels of real property. Mrs. Tronconi, at best, earns about \$17,000 per year. At the time of the final hearing, Mr. Tronconi was living on unemployment. His medical problems prohibited him from following his usual career of teaching. His efforts to find other employment were unavailing. Mrs. Tronconi produced no other evidence that jobs for which her sixty year old husband would allegedly be qualified were available to permit Mr. Tronconi to earn anywhere near enough to support himself. The marital assets had an appraised value of roughly \$120,000. Subtracting the indebtedness to others (\$20,000 for Lake Placid and granting that Appellant can properly claim all the various payments she made in connection with the marital residence, roughly \$17,000) one is left with approximately \$80,000. By the time one subtracts costs, taxes, attorney's fees and the like, the parties would be unlikely to realize more than \$75,000. Making the highly unrealistic assumption that a sheriff's sale would produce anything approximately approaching the fair market value of the property, each party would end up with approximately \$37,000. In this day and age, that sum would provide neither party with

(21)

sufficient funds to obtain a residence in any way comparable to what each has now. Given their ages, neither party would have the financial security each has now. The foregoing is doubly true in Mr. Tronconi's case. He has all the ordinary expenses of living plus the need to pay for regular psychiatric care. From the figures on his financial affidavit, the expenses for medical care, plus rent, \$37,000, plus whatever he can realize from the sale of the Bahamas property, would be exhausted in reasonably short order. Even should Mrs. Tronconi still be working, it is doubtful her salary would be sufficient to support both parties. The criteria of <u>Condry</u> and <u>Sudholdt</u>, to say nothing of the justification of Duncan, are met.

Consider also the situation that would be presented were Petitioner's argument correct. As she herself argues, both the special equity and the remedy made available by <u>Canakaris</u> and <u>Duncan</u> represent judicial innovations effecting title to property. If Petitioner, in fact, contends this Court is without the power to act in that area, the logic of her position is that she so advise the Court and further advise the Court that it should acknowledge that limitation and recede from <u>Canakaris</u> and, in addition, abolish the special equity.

Once having made that determination, Petitioner would also have to concede she is entitled to no relief on the grounds that her special equity claims were denied. Alternatively, should she wish to press the special equity claim, she must

(22)

concede the jurisdiction of the Courts to fashion remedies effecting title to real property and abandon her argument that the decision of the majority below was beyond the Court's juridiction.

The jurisdiction of this Court to transfer title to property, aside from specific legislative enactment as seen in Petitioner's examples, in fact, exists first and foremost because, as recognized by Article V, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution, the Courts are the repository of "the judicial power" which includes the authority to adapt the law

> To meet the demands of fairness generated by changing social conditions and needs. <u>Colucci v. Colucci</u>, 392 So.2d 577, 581, n. 6 (3rd DCA 1980).

The opinion of this Court in <u>Hoffman</u> <u>v. Jones</u>, 280 So.2d 431 Fla.1973) not only serves an additional example of the exercise of the judicial power in that it replaced contributory with comparative negligence but, in addition, lists a variety of cases in which that power which, to say the least, has a venerable history at common law has been exercised in this state's jurisprudence. Id., at 435, 436.

While not necessary to a decision in this case, the extent to which this judicial power extends can be gauged from the circumstances giving rise to the creation of the special equity. That remedy, as noted in Canakaris:

Was developed to avoid the inequities of the existing statutory provision which de-

(23)

nied alimony to an adulterous wife... <u>Id</u>., at 1200.

Simply stated, the judicial creation of the special equity undid the exact result the legislature appears to have intended. In <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court changed the law, the argument that contributory negligence existed by virtue of legislative enactment notwithstanding. Id., at 434, 435.

The rule making power conferred on the Court by Article V, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution provides a second basis for this Court's power to transfer title to realty without specific legislative enactment.

Article V, Section 2(a) provides, in part:

The Supreme Court shall adopt rules for practice and procedure in all Courts....

Pursuant to that authorization, this Court adopted Rule 1.570(d), Fla.R.Civ.Pro. which provides, in part:

> If a judgment is for a conveyance...of real or personal property, the judgment shall have the effect of a duly executed conveyance....

The portion of the Final Judgment dealing with property transfers in this case specifically made reference to the above-quoted rule.

In summary, this Court has jurisdiction to create remedies transferring title to property without specific legislative authorization, as Petitioner's own examples amply demonstrate. That argument, therefore, does not effect the validity of the majority's position nor the compel the conclusion that <u>Sangas</u> represents the only interpretation of <u>Cankaris</u> consistent with this Court's jurisdiction.

#### POINT IV

# THE FINAL JUDGMENT REPRESENTS AN EQUITABLE DIVISION OF THE MARITAL ASSETS

Petitioner's remaining argument presented in different guises throughout her brief, is that the property division contained in the Final Judgment which represented "an approximately equal division" of the parties assets resulted in the wife's being "shortchanged". This is "an issue of fact and not one of law." <u>Connor v. Connor</u>, 8 F.L.W. 405 (Sup. Ct. 10/14/83). Judge Ferris' findings of fact came before the Fourth District presumed correct because, as this Court noted in <u>Canakaris</u>, only the trial judge "can personally observe the participants and events of trial" <u>Canakaris</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 2102. Those findings come before this Court not only presumed correct but butressed by the approval conferred by the Fourth District's adoption of those findings without dissent.

In attempting to demonstrate that "an approximately equal" division of assets "shortchanged" her, Petitioner does not discuss the presence or absence of substantial evidence to support the trial judge's findings. Petitioner's Main Brief also does not address the more important issue. If her version of the facts is accepted, it is never explained why the result she contends occurred costitues an abuse of the "broad discretionary authority to do equity and justice between the parties"

(25)

conferred on the trial judge by <u>Canakaris</u>. An equitable distribution, of course, "need not equalize their financial position", of the parties <u>Id.</u>, at 1204. Unless Petitioner demonstrates both, she cannot show error.

#### (A) THE SPECIAL EQUITY CLAIMS

In the trial court, Petitioner contended she was entitled to a special equity in the Lake Placid property, the Great Abaco property and the marital residence. The Court of Appeals upheld the trial judge's conclusion that the wife had "not demonstrated a special equity" in any of those parcels.

The position she now takes is uncertain first because the logic of her jurisdictional argument is that the special equity--upon which she now relies--should be abolished and second, because her argument does not discuss why the trial judge's rulings constitute an abuse of discretion even if her contentions regarding the facts are sound.

(1) THE LAKE PLACID PROPERTY

The Lake Placid property consists of acreage with a small cottage which was and is Mr. Tronconi's residence. The property was purchased originally as "a business proposition". Of the funds utilized to acquire that property \$20,000 was borrowed from a third party (T. 147, A. 50) and the remainder of the \$80,000 purchase price was paid from joint funds (T. 109, A. 46).

(26)

Petitioner conceding each party was entitled to a one-half interest regardless of the theory, nontheless asserts the trial judge erred in not ordering the property "partitioned and sold" and the parties thereafter exchange equal amounts of money (Petitioner's brief, 26-28). Error, if there be any, is harmless.

The Petitioner's real argument is not so much that the property was not "partitioned", but rather that it was not "sold" which is a remedy she asserts is hers by right under the partition statute. Curiously enough, this is error only with respect to the property received by the husband. Petitioner is perfectly happy with the award to her of the marital residence--without partition--which, under the statute, appears to by the only parcel for which the remedy of sale is even arguably appropriate. Chapter 64, Florida Statute (partition) provides that the trial judge may order property sold where it is not capable of division in kind. F.S.A. 64.071. The Lake Placid property and the Bahamas property are acreage and thus subject to such division. The only parcel which is not capable of being divided in that fashion is the marital residence. In other words, respecting the assets of which complaint is made, Petitioner is not entitled to the remedy she seeks. Where that remedy would be applicable, she makes no complaint. In any event, whatever merit there may have been in her argument would appear to have been eliminated, by this Court's holding in Duncan, if nothing else.

(27)

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